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--- On commencing at 9:41 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  I am Alison Duff and this is Paul Pastirik, and we are just going to wait until we get the sound system working.

Good morning.  My name is Alison Duff, and I am presiding today.  And with me is Board member Paul Pastirik.  The OEB is sitting today to hear an application by Thunder Bay Hydro regarding its application to set new distribution rates in 2017, effective May 1, 2017.

To date the OEB has made provision for written interrogatories and responses and a settlement conference. As a result of the settlement conference, the OEB received a partial settlement proposal from the parties.  OEB Staff was not a party to the settlement proposal and filed a submission regarding it.  Procedural Order No. 3, which was issued on Tuesday, indicates the Panel has some questions that it will ask today.

The OEB also received additional documents and letters filed after the settlement proposal, and they were received from Thunder Bay and other intervenors, and in particular the Board received a letter from Thunder Bay enclosing an opinion letter from Mr. Tsimberg who Thunder Bay proposes to add to their witness panel as an expert witness.

The School Energy Coalition and other intervenors then also wrote to the OEB regarding the new witness.

In Procedural Order No. 3 the Board indicated that it intended to hear oral submissions from all parties on the matters raised in SEC's letter and responses to SEC's letter, and in particular the qualifications of Mr. Tsimberg to testify as an expert on matters related to his letter dated March 24.

There is no formal hearing plan for today.  Time estimates and submissions were not requested, and the Panel will decide on the necessity of any additional procedural steps as the day progresses.

This hearing room is reserved for all day today and all day tomorrow, if necessary.

So before we begin may I have appearances, please.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madam chair, Panel.  My name is a John Vellone.  I am counsel for the applicant, Thunder Bay Hydro.  And I will briefly introduce the witnesses as well. To my left, Mr. Tim Wilson is the vice president of customer and information services division at Thunder Bay Hydro.

Moving over, Cindy Speziale is the vice president of the finance division of Thunder Bay Hydro.

To her immediate left, Mr. Rob Mace.  Robert Mace is president and CEO of Thunder Bay Hydro.

To his immediate left is Ms. Karla Bailey, asset management and engineering manager at Thunder Bay Hydro.

And to her left, perhaps doesn't need introduction, is Mr. Yuri Tsimberg, director of asset management at Kinectrics.

And joining me to my right is an associate at my firm, Jessica-Ann Buchta.  Ms. Buchta is going to attempt to move us through the electronic evidence on the screens in the hopes of speeding things up.

MS. DUFF:  We appreciate that.  Thank you, and welcome.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Mr. Pastirik.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am a consultant with VECC.  And if you don't mind, I would also like to put in an appearance for Ms. Cynthia Khoo -- that's K-h-o-o -- who is now counsel on this case.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you and welcome, Mr. Garner.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  I am Shelly Grice, consultant for the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Ms. Grice.

MS. LEA:  And Jennifer Lea for Board Staff.  And with me is Mr. Martin Davies.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Ms. Lea.  Are there any other preliminary matters that we should deal with, or should the Board proceed directly to questions regarding the partial settlement proposal?

MR. VELLONE:  We have no additional preliminary matters.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement:

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  I notice that there were a number of documents filed in recent days.  To the extent that we refer to them today, perhaps they should be given a file number as the day progresses.

Mr. Pastirik has a few questions.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Yes.  I have a few questions, and most of my questions, or all of many questions, relate to the change in the rate classification for the industrial customer.

I am wondering if you can tell me little more about that large volume customer.  One is:  How long have you served this customer?

MR. VELLONE:  The evidence that we have been able to locate shows that this customer has been serviced since at least 2003, possibly before then.

MR. PASTIRIK:  How long has their consumption exceeded 5,000 kilowatts?  I notice in the evidence it says the last 12 consecutive months, but I am wondering if --


MR. VELLONE:  So I went back and looked since 2003 until present day at the consumption levels, and this customer's kilowatt demand hovered at just below the 5,000 kilowatt level since about mid-2004 until about February of 2011.  That's when their demand first popped up above the 5,000 kilowatt level.  It just did so for a month and then it fell back down below so it didn't affect that average demand.

The customer has hovered at or around the 5,000 kilowatt level between 2011 and 2014.  More recently in 2015, which is the last year I had full data for, the customer's demand is hovering at or around the 6,000 kilowatt level.

MS. DUFF:  Just before -- I just wanted to say to the witnesses it's appropriate that Mr. Vellone answers, but to the extent you have additional information that you think would aid the Board in answering these questions, please feel free to add that.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you very much, that's helpful. Can you describe Thunder Bay Hydro's contact with the customer before the application was filed and then after the settlement was filed?  Was there some discussion with the customer?

MR. VELLONE:  I will let, I guess, Mr. Wilson or Mr. Mace speak to that directly.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Great, thank you.

MR. WILSON:  I am assuming I am on here.  Okay.

We engaged with the customer in, I believe, the fall of 2015 through some surveying with respect to our DSP.  There hasn't been any follow-up in terms of the rate class positioning, though, on -- from a customer engagement perspective through surveying, although we have had conversation with the customer since then about it in the last couple of months.

MR. PASTIRIK:  So you have had some discussion about the different rate class?

MR. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  Sorry, if I could, Mr. Wilson and I both met with the VP of operations out of Montreal that has responsibility, discussed a number of issues.  The rate class was one of them.  As well, in the past Mr. Wilson has had discussion, not about the rate class issue, but about other issues in general with local operating individuals.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you very much.  Are there any other customers that you have that you think could exceed 5,000 in the next five years, or do you think that this would be the only one, just based on what you know today?

MR. MACE:  There's none that I would anticipate.  There's another manufacturer.

We, just for the Board's information, we used to have two large users that were both sawmills.  Because of the cyclical nature of that business, they went out of business about five or six years ago.  So this particular customer is the only one I would anticipate being in this kind of demand level for the next few years.

MR. PASTIRIK:  So do you think that Thunder Bay will have a large user class at all coming forward?  It doesn't sound like it at this point?

MR. MACE:  I wouldn't anticipate the need for it.  I mean, there are -- I have talked to developers that have proposals for large manufacturing facilities, but our opinion at this point is those are very tenuous proposals.  I don't see a lot of possibility in the near term that they are going forward.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Is the result of the change that you are -- in the settlement agreement revenue neutral to Thunder Bay in terms of the revenue required -- requirement?

MR. MACE:  Yes.  My understanding is it's revenue neutral to us.

MR. PASTIRIK:  In table 6 of the settlement proposal, the one rate class I noticed:  general service 50 to 999 will result in an increase of about $4 a month, if I read that table correctly, and I'm just wondering if anyone in this rate class has been consulted on this change and they are okay with it.

MR. VELLONE:  That was a tricky one.  I will let Mr. Shepherd speak in a moment.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  As the Panel is aware and the Staff is aware, the Board settlement practice direction on settlement conferences actually have very strict prohibitions around confidentiality which limit our ability to take a settlement proposal and go outside that room to consult with customers on it.  So what we could do is talk to the customer representatives that intervened in this process and did attend the settlement conference, and I believe Mr. Shepherd's client base is in the GS class, so he can speak to that directly.

In addition to that, there are exceptions in the settlement conference confidentiality requirements which allow you to go out and speak to those that you are obtaining instructions from.  Ms. Grice, as a representative of AMPCO, was able to use those exceptions to speak to the directly-affected customer as well.  So we had to do what we could within the confines of the guidelines that we had.  So I will let Mr. Shepherd speak to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My schools are mostly in the 50 to 999 class, and I had spoken to them before, and I spoke to them again after the settlement conference to make sure they were okay with this, and they were.  From their point of view, and I think from the point of view of most customers in that class, the small increase to them is worth it for the positive impact on a significant employer in their city.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you very much.  A question to -- you possibly have answered that as well -- are there any other reasons or issues that you think the OEB should consider in deciding whether to accept this exception to the policy?  And do you see any future risks with making this change?

MR. VELLONE:  In terms of reasons, I would give you two.  The first is -- and, Staff, I would invite your thoughts as well.  But I pored through all of the Board's filing requirements and guidelines, and I couldn't find anywhere in any of those a requirement for a utility to create a large-use class to begin with, which is to say, the applicant brought forth a proposal in their application, and they are now taking that away, but I couldn't find a requirement for them to have one.  That's
-- and I will invite Staff submissions on that, but I struggled -- I didn't see a legal requirement for there to be one.

The second one is:  This customer has hovered at or around that 5,000-kilowatt level since 2004, when we look back at the records.  Sometimes they are below.  Currently they are above.

When I spoke to my client about this, what actually changed from a perspective of costs to serve this customer, what actually changed in terms of what the distribution assets are being used to service this customer when they were below or when they were above, and the answer was nothing.  It's the same now as it's always been.  Really, all that's happened is their average demand has creeped up above that magical 5,000-kilowatt threshold.

I think there is a use for a large-use class when you do have a really big customer whose cost and demand characteristics are so different as to merit a different class, 30 megawatts or what have you, but I'm not sure that, in this case, that really makes sense.  This is obviously a borderline customer.  They are just below; they are just above.  So I think that is a relevant consideration for this Panel to take into account.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you very much.  And the last question I have is:  If you could conform for me that, generally, it's the overall rates for most customer classes are decreasing as a result of this change.  Would you be able to confirm that for me?

MR. VELLONE:  That's confirmed, and I believe it is as is shown in table 6 of the settlement proposal.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Yes.  I just wanted you to validate that.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  I just have some follow-up questions too.  regarding -- I guess this question best be said to Mr. Wilson.  Looking at your -- the GS class -- I mean, part of the essence of the Board in setting rates is to have some homogeneity regarding the classes.  So this particular customer which is hovering above and below 5,000, I mean, is it similar, or is it really an outlier to the other customers that are in the classes that you are planning to merge into one?  I know that's a tough question, but just knowing what you do about your customer base, is this so distinct, this customer?

MR. MACE:  If I could, I would say one of the unique characteristics of this customer is the nature of the business.  It's basically a sawmill.  It also produces wood pellets now for biofuel.  My experience has been that those sawmills are very cyclical.  They ebb and flow with the economy.  Their demand rises and falls with the economy, with U.S. trade issues, because they are a big exporter.

My input would be that I think there's significant risk that they could fall below 5 meg, 5,000 kilowatts in the next couple of years depending on what happens with U.S. trade.  I mean, that's the freshest one.

Compared to the other -- I think your question was how do they differ, maybe, from the other larger users.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. MACE:  So most of our other larger users are more institutional/commercial, with the exception of one fairly large manufacturing.  So I would say most of our large above, above a meg, are relatively stable commercial, industrial, institutional.  There's one manufacturing facility that hasn't exhibited the swings in demand over the years, but there's some potential for that.

MS. DUFF:  And Mr. Shepherd was talking about his particular people that he represents, but this mentioning, aside from pure cost-driven rate base making, there seems to be some societal benefits within the economy that, maybe, are indirect that would affect perhaps the customers that would be paying the additional $4 a month.  Do you think that's a fair characterization?

MR. MACE:  I do think that's fair.  This employer, this particular customer, is related to a larger paper mill that's not a Thunder Bay Hydro customer but is within our service territory.  They quality as a larger player in Thunder Bay.  There is certainly societal benefit, I believe, to doing what we can.  There is likely pressure to keep rates down for those customers.

MS. DUFF:  And then your other comment -- and perhaps it's best to Ms. Speziale -- regarding revenue neutrality.  So your rates will be rebased this year in 2017 based on whatever decision this Board makes.  And from that basis, then, to the extent that you apply for an IRM increase, they are just going to be escalating with or without that class.

Is it really revenue neutral to Thunder Bay if this customer were to be placed in this large user class but then, you know, through its own demand falls into the other category of the GS less than 5,000?  If you want to think about it. 


MR. VELLONE:  I am going to jump in a minute, because I think it's pretty complicated, I would say.

You are forecasting load in this one cost of service application, then you are kind of stuck with those rates for the balance of the IRM term.  If the load doesn't -- if you get your forecast wrong, that is not going to be revenue neutral to Thunder Bay Hydro.  If they move up or down from a class, maybe that isn't revenue neutral, either. 


MS. DUFF:  Well, that answers my question that it's not revenue neutral.

There are two factors involved.  One is the demand, and the second is what class they are in and the rates that they would pay. 


MR. VELLONE:  But I believe we are setting the class once.  Right?  You set the class once for the balance of the IRM terms.  That happens, we pick, you decide where they are going to be, and from the utility's perspective we just -- we will just live with it.

So that is revenue neutral from our point of view.  They won't move classes during the next five years, necessarily.  


MR. MACE:  If I may -- 


MS. DUFF:  Your tariff sheet wills be fixed. 


MR. MACE:  Yes, it's an interesting question.  I would say it -- and as Mr. Vellone said, it's complicated.

From my point of view, if all things remain equal, all customers in all classes have the predicted load that's in our application, then this is revenue neutral for the year.  And I would have to think about the impact of IR, but everyone goes up a percent, I still think it's revenue neutral.

There is a -- there would be a risk, I guess, if we put them in a higher class, and then in two years their load drops and we are mandated, because we have to review them yearly, to put them down in a lower class.  That would have some kind of revenue impact potentially.

So as Mr. Vellone said, it's complicated.  Right now in terms of this application, this year with all these projections and our load forecast, I look at it as revenue neutral.  The utility doesn't gain any more or less money during the test year if the customer is in this intermediate class or is in large user class. 


MS. DUFF:  I appreciate that, and I was really looking at the five-year time horizon in which these rates are really being set and would be in effect.

So the Board will have a rate order which has the tariff sheets, and there will either be this rate large user class or not.  And if there is a large user class and the customer qualifies for that, that's what they will be billed.

If in another scenario the Board approves a tariff sheet with only one class in which the two prior classes are somehow merged -- and I take it that is your settlement proposal.  Correct?  There is no upper threshold of 4,999 kilowatts, right?


MR. MACE:  That's correct. 


MS. DUFF:  So in that scenario, where there is just one, and then that customer will be billed whatever they're demanded, there is no separate rate that they would be charged in one scenario versus the other.

And it was just that question.  I understand it's complicated, but to conclude that it was revenue neutral, I -- you've qualified that in your statement, saying that as far as 2017 is concerned. 


MR. MACE:  Yes, so to be clear, in terms of the perspective of Thunder Bay Hydro, if the customer ends up in the large user class or the intermediate class, as we would call it, there is no financial implication for us, certainly in the test year. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could add something, Madam Chair.  It appears to us, and one of the reasons we agreed to this, is that if the customer is put in the large user class, it could become revenue neutral in the future because they could be forced to move classes, because they their load drops.  And then it would not be revenue neutral.

But if they are in the -- if the classes are merged, as you say, then it can only be revenue neutral; it can't be anything else it seems to us.  That's just the math.


MS. DUFF:  Yes, thank you.  I appreciate that.

Are there any other parties that signed the settlement proposal that wish to comment on state anything at this stage?

And I just wanted to refer also to within the settlement proposal.  I think it was Appendix B.  I would appreciate it if the parties could turn to that.  I am sorry I'm putting you on the spot, person who is making the screens go up. 


MR. VELLONE:  It is on the screen if you want to work from there. 


MS. DUFF:  There are three, I guess, benefits or justifications that the parties who signed the settlement proposal are referencing in terms of justification regarding loss factor, then the load forecast, the transformer allowance.  Those are the three that were listed.

But I look at those three, and I -- would it be incorrect to characterize those as that's just the math that falls out of combining the rate classes and the effects on what would do to the load forecast and the loss factor? 


MR. VELLONE:  That is absolutely fair.  I think use of the word "benefits" is probably a misnomer in this appendix. What it was intended to do is explain the rationale for the changes in rates that you see in table 6.

So in table 6 you saw rates go down for a whole bunch of different classes and go up for a couple, and we were trying to explain what the drivers for those were and to quantify those so that everybody in the room understood what was happening.  And the drivers are these three different factors that you see here.

The benefit is, I think, the rate impacts that we show in Table 6, at the end of the day.  We do think there is a benefit from the loss factor, as well; we think the correct loss factor is being applied when they are in the GS greater than 1,000 class.

But I think -- does that help?  


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  And there are -- according to the settlement proposal, there are 467 customers in this GS 50 to 999 class.  Is that correct?  That's what I am reading.

Now, Ms. Grice, I don't mean to put you on the spot, but we have heard from Mr. Shepherd regarding schools that are in this class.  Do you have -- could you tell me even the number or percentage that AMPCO represents?  Are there some customers in this 467?  


MS. GRICE:  No.  AMPCO just has one member in this rate case, and that is the member -- the customer in question, that is -- that was the subject of the proposal to move it into the large user class, and now that request has been withdrawn.  Did I answer? 


MS. DUFF:  So during the settlement discussions, that was --


MR. VELLONE:  We can't go much deeper than that.

MS. DUFF:  I can't go much further than that.  Right.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  That's fine.  There are none in the 50 to 999 class; that's you're...

MS. GRICE:  That is correct. 


MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Okay, fine.  The Board will still proceed.  I mean, we will take into consideration the information that was provided this morning.
Procedural Matters:


Now, regarding the SEC letter.  Mr. Shepherd, in your letter of April 13 you raised a number of issues regarding the information provided by Thunder Bay Hydro in their letter of April 6, and in particular, the opinion -- there was an opinion by Mr. Tsimberg expressed in this letter, and that letter, in fact, was dated March 24.

And there was -- it's the extent to which Mr. Tsimberg would be providing further oral testimony today as planned.  
So the OEB would like to hear submissions from all parties regarding the issues raised in SEC's letter. 
However, first, the OEB would find it useful for Mr. Vellone to state exactly -- there is some question regarding what Thunder Bay is asking Mr. Tsimberg to testify to.

The Panel has reviewed the correspondence to date, and the extent of his intended testimony is not clear to us.  There are some differences in the letter of March 24, and also in your subsequent letter on I think it's April 17.  
So if you would please, could you state that exactly for us today.

Submissions by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Thunder Bay Hydro has retained Mr. Tsimberg to opine for Thunder Bay Hydro's benefit as well as for the benefit of all the parties and this Panel -- 


MS. DUFF:  Well, and hopefully this Panel, too. 


MR. VELLONE:  And this Panel on, I guess, from an asset management perspective alone, an engineer's perspective -- an expert engineer asset management perspective alone on the reasonableness of Thunder Bay Hydro's proposed distribution system plan.

Is it consistent with asset management practices?  And to the extent it's not, tell us, let us know.

MS. DUFF:  Can I help you a bit?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  I will be a bit more specific in my concerns.

MR. VELLONE:  That would be helpful.

MS. DUFF:  In his March 24th letter, in paragraph 3, this is describing the extent of his testimony as it relates to the reasonableness of capital investments requested under the system renewal category based on findings of the Kinectrics 2016 ACA study.  That's one piece, and I understand that.  I think it's clear.

In paragraph 6, I see that "I am of the opinion," and that's an opinion statement there, and it goes on about the DSP now.  That's a next layer, as I read it, talking about Chapter 5 documents and its completeness.

Then when I turn to the letter of April 17th, on page 3 -- and I'm sorry I'm making you flip all around, but, I mean, I will state it out so it's clear to everyone.  On page 3, midway through the page:

"Mr. Tsimberg will be providing evidence on this methodology and whether the investment levels Thunder Bay Hydro is requesting under the DSP" --


Now you see, again, there's the DSP:
"-- are consistent with the findings in the ASA."

Now, this may not be confusing to anyone but the Panel, but I do see a distinction between talking about system renewal and the capital expenditures forecast for five years and how that relates to the ASA and the mention of the DSP.

MS. LEA:  The ACA, Madam?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, not ASA.  Yes.  And we're not going to be talking about ibuprofen either.  Yes, the ACA and the DSP.  So that, actually, is what I'm really asking you.  Sorry to not be clear in my initial question.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  The scope of the request that the utility made to Mr. Tsimberg was the broader request, which is to opine on the DSP as a whole.  Mr. Tsimberg's backup report, the ACA, relates primarily to the system renewal portion of the DSP, that portion of it.  However, paragraph 7 in Mr. Tsimberg's report goes to the next stage when he speaks to the prioritization process utilized by the utility in the DSP to allocate spending on the basis of that input, the asset condition assessment.

So he is speaking to system renewal, but in addition we have asked him to look at the DSP as a whole and to let us know his opinion on that, and that's where you got the qualification in paragraph 7.  He has turned his mind to the balancing and prioritization that has occurred at that point.

MS. DUFF:  Because there are four investment categories --

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- not just system renewal.  And it's the balancing of those four that are contained within the DSP?  Is that what I hear you say?

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah.  That's fair, yep.

MS. DUFF:  Well, thank you for that.  It was our plan to ask Mr. Vellone to qualify Mr. Tsimberg, which would give all parties the opportunity to ask Mr. Tsimberg questions related to his qualifications now with this clarification.  Does anybody have any submissions in regard to proceeding that way?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I would object to qualifying Mr. Tsimberg.  We have not had proper notice.  We don't have a proper CV.  Even the stuff we saw yesterday is not proper.  We don't have a proper report.  We have no way of knowing whether -- I can't do a proper voir dire because I don't know what questions to ask.  I don't have a CV to start with, and I don't have a report to try to match his CV to his expert work.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Garner, any comments?
Submissions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Yes.  We would support fully the position of Schools, and I think in some ways, Madam Chair, you have taken a little wind out of our sail as to our -- in our submission in the sense that we are somewhat confused as to even the nature of what this witness wants to do.  And having listened to Mr. Vellone, we are even more concerned that what's being put forward as evidence is nowhere near evidence, and we wouldn't even know how to proceed.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Grice?
Submissions by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Yes.  AMPCO supports the submissions of SEC and VECC in this regard.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea, do you have any comments?
Submissions by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, Board Staff intends to remain neutral with respect to this difficulty, because we don't have a view on this as such.

I can attempt to provide any procedural help.  The only thought that I had was if we did hear -- I hear my friends are asking for a report to be filed from Mr. Tsimberg.  Would it be possible to hear Mr. Tsimberg, hear his evidence here orally and as a report -- here is his report; we are hearing it orally -- and then provide whatever procedural steps may be necessary to give people the time to review that in the same way that they would if they had a written report before them?

So my question I guess to my friends is:  Is a written report absolutely essential and, if so, why?  Could we hear the witness -- and I respect that you're objecting even to his qualification being heard now, because you are not prepared, and it would assist us to the understand why the new CV was not sufficient, but that's something you could speak to.

But would it assist us to hear his report orally?  At least that would move us along rather than waiting and asking Mr. Tsimberg to produce a written report.  I'm just trying to keep the process moving while not compromising fairness or the creation of a good record for this Panel.
Continued Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  May I respond, Madam Chair?

So I had actually thought that we were going to start with submissions on whether it was appropriate to hear Mr. Tsimberg at all today.  But let me perhaps respond to Ms. Lea's comments, and maybe this will be helpful.

The normal practice of this Board is that, if expert evidence is filed, it's filed early in the process, usually with the application, but certainly early, then is subject to interrogatories.  Often there's a technical conference to get more information, and sometimes there is even a Staff or intervenor expert to deal with that so that, at the hearing, when you actually -- when the adjudicators have to consider the expert's evidence, it's all on the table.  There's no tactics going on here.  There's nothing unusual happening.  It's all there, and you are dealing with everything.  It's all in front of you.

Instead, what's proposed here -- and I want to emphasize here that -- Ms. Lea asked why does it have to be written.  Well, I think the answer is:  Why does it have to be oral?  What is the difference here?

What's proposed here is that a utility should be allowed to retain an expert at the last minute, and I would ask the question, "Why?"  Did something change?  Is the DSP different than it was when they filed the application?  Is the ACA different since they filed the application?  Why wasn't this done at the outset or along the way?  Why was it done two weeks -- why was it filed two weeks before the hearing was to commence?

Then a document is filed that gives no details of the work done at all, zero.  It doesn't have a compliant CV.  All it has is a promo piece.  And then when we ask for more, they don't give it to us.  I will get to that in a second.  And then the applicant holds on to the sparse stuff that they are going to file for two weeks before filing it.  Why?  What's the value in that?  We haven't been given any reason.

And then says, "Well, we don't want any delay."  Well, why is there a delay?  There's a delay because this is being filed late, and it's not complete.  That's why there is a delay.

So, I just, I want to talk -- obviously the contents of the report are something that we can go at in some length, but I don't think that's necessary.  I think the Board understands that the report is a little bit sparse.  I hesitate to call it a report.

But I would like you to imagine a situation in which a utility has to propose a productivity factor, let's say.  And they hire an expert and they file a document that says the productivity factor for this utility should be minus 0.23, and I form this conclusion because that factor is consistent with the Board's RRFE report.  Nothing else.  
What would the Board do?  Well, ask the next question.  Then the applicant sits on the document and files it two weeks before the hearing.

Would the Board say, that's really good?  No.  The Board would say this is not how we do things here.  We -- the Board's policy for years has been evidence gets out early, is fully tested, and the hearing is the culmination.  It is not the starting point.

So my final comment on this is with respect to the CV.  The CV that was filed was really -- I characterize it as a promo piece; claims about expertise but no details.

We then got yesterday afternoon a fuller document, which is still mostly claims -- I did this, I did this, I did this -- but not data.  It had no publications and had no expert testimony.  So we asked for that.  And that, we got later yesterday afternoon, and that doesn't include everything.

We asked for a full list of publications; we got a few back to 2010.  And when we asked about some of those, we got no response.

And then with respect to expert testimony, we got nothing, no list of expert testimony at all.  It appears that Mr. Tsimberg has never been qualified as an expert anywhere, because we asked for it and we got nothing.

How can we proceed to deal with an expert if we have nothing about the person?

I mean, yes I understand that Mr. Tsimberg has worked for the Board doing asset management work.  I understand that he had some involvement with the depreciation study in 2010 although, when we asked what it was, we weren't told.  
And yet my friend thinks that this -- it's appropriate and, presumably for some tactical advantage, to drop this on the parties and the Board at the last minute so that we are not in a position to properly prepare and ask questions of this witness.

I have no objection to the witness being led.  I have an objection to the witness not filing proper information and not giving enough notice for us to prepare to ask questions of the witness.

I will make one other comment.  My friend talks about the -- my friend Mr. Vellone talks about the fact that the courts don't require discovery of expert witnesses.  Indeed, he is correct.  And I have provided the Board and the parties with a fuller excerpt from the Rules of Civil Procedure relating to expert evidence.

MS. DUFF:  That is just in front of us right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  so if you go to page 4 of this, and my friend has this --


MS. DUFF:  Did you provide this to the parties in advance or just this morning?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  This is a cited document.  I don't need to provide it in advance.  But my friend will be very familiar with the Rules of Civil Procedure, and he cited them.

MS. DUFF:  I am on page 4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So on page 4, 31.10, my friend cited the phrase here, and I have underlined it:
"Other than an expert --"


That is, if you are going to discover non-parties, you can discovery any party with leave.

"Other than an expert engaged by or on behalf of a party in preparation for contemplated or pending litigation."

So my friend is suggesting what that means is there is no real need to have any discovery of experts' reports. That's not quite true, because the discovery system in the courts -- and if you go back to page 2; sorry page 3 -- the discovery system in the courts is about parties discovering other parties.

You are allowed to ask questions of other parties before a hearing.  It is generally not about non-parties; that is not how it normally works.  It is about having a right to ask questions in advance, and the idea being let's get all the unimportant stuff out on the table so that the trial is focussed.

However, when it comes to experts, if you go to page 1 of our handout, the Rules of Civil Procedure are very precise.  An expert report has to be filed 90 days in advance not of the trial but of the pre-trial conference. 
And there is a list of things that have to be in it, and the courts are very strict about what has to be in it.  If an expert report doesn't have all the stuff, they are not interested.

Then, normally what happens is, if an expert report is filed, the other party -- because it's a very adversarial process in the courts -- 60 days before the pre-trial conference files a counter expert report.

That's -- it's a different system in the courts.  It's very strict.  But it's a different system.

Here, the Board has a "file stuff early" approach and a discovery process so that everything gets on the table. 
And so for my friend to suggest that discovery is not necessary is just completely wrong, and the Board's practice for years is expert reports are fully discoverable and always are.

I had some other things to say, but I think that's enough.  Oh, sorry, no.  I lied; one other thing.

You have asked the question:  What is Mr. Tsimberg's evidence supposed to be about?  And I draw your attention to the original March 24 letter, which we got on April 7.  And in paragraph 4, he talks about producing a support in favour -- in support of TBH's DSP.  So that's the central element of what he was asking asked to do; produce a report in support of the DSP.

And then in number 6, which you took us to, he doesn't say, well, this is good asset management practices.  What he says is your DSP -- which he had nothing to do with, right; he has just read it:

"Your DSP is aligned with the Board's requirements in chapter 5.  It's in the right format and it has the right level of detail."

What he is saying is this complies with the Board's rules.

That's not an engineer's opinion; that's a regulatory opinion.  And we have no information on how he got there, why he thinks that's correct.  All we know is he thinks what the Board wants in a DSP, that's what TBH has done. 
Unless you have any questions, I think that's our submissions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I think I want to start with an allegation that the decision to bring Mr. Tsimberg as an expert somehow wasn't proper, was some sort of litigation tactic.

It was not.  No one here is going to dispute that Thunder Bay Hydro holds the burden of proof in this application.  And while the utility benefits from a presumption of prudence, that presumption can be rebutted at any time by reasoned arguments.

And it is these types of reasoned arguments which can arise unexpectedly through the course of a proceeding and, from the applicant's perspective, to be able to meet their burden of proof, from time to time it does become necessary to file additional evidence to ensure the record is complete so that they can meet that burden of proof.

This is what occurred on February 21, 2017, when counsel for SEC filed a letter with the Ontario Energy Board asking to have an oral hearing held in the City of Thunder Bay.  That letter included a number of allegations against Thunder Bay Hydro, and particularly in respect of their capital plan.  And it was that letter that was the impetus for Thunder Bay Hydro to make the decision to retain Mr. Tsimberg to examine the reasonableness of their distribution system plan and to prepare to file that letter with the Ontario Energy Board.

If the Board chooses to disallow Mr. Tsimberg or his opinion evidence, it is my submission that the applicant will be directly prejudiced by this decision insomuch as that, in that, they will be prevented from discharging their burden of proof onus.

It is Thunder Bay Hydro's submission that Mr. Tsimberg's evidence and testimony is necessary and will be necessary to discharge the utility's burden of proof in this application.

I want to speak briefly about the report.

MS. DUFF:  The March 24th letter?

MR. VELLONE:  The March 24th letter from Mr. Tsimberg, which directly incorporates by reference a very detailed asset condition assessment report, which has been on the evidentiary record since Day 1.

These two documents collectively form the basis of Mr. Tsimberg's opinion evidence.  When my friend asks for a report, I don't really know what else we could present to you that's not already on the evidentiary record.  You could presumably take the contents of the ACA, put the opinion evidence at the front of that, call it a new report, and then title it the expert report, but I'm not sure where that gets us.  I don't know what else could be added beyond that.

In terms of the CV, we recognized, based on my friend's letter, that the bio attached to Mr. Tsimberg's opinion letter was short.  Because of that, we followed up with Mr. Tsimberg to ask for a longer form of CV, and in advance of today's oral hearing, we did provide that to all of the parties. In addition, in response to follow-up questions from Mr. Shepherd, we did ask Mr. Tsimberg to compile a list of publications.  Those are the ones -- he did get your request directly.  Those are the ones he provided.

In addition, Mr. Shepherd asked for a list of circumstances where Mr. Tsimberg was qualified as an expert.  He was not previously qualified as an expert for the Ontario Energy Board.  We have listed one appearance where he has appeared before the Ontario Energy Board as a fact witness for Hydro One.

So, again, on the CV, I don't know what else we can provide.  We have given everything we can.  We have given more when asked.  We are certainly not trying to slow down or obstruct the process in any way at all.

The parties have raised what I would characterize as a process issue with the filing of this opinion evidence on April 6th.  And Mr. Shepherd has taken you through the Rules of Civil Procedure as it relates to opinion evidence in those proceedings.

The reason why I cited those rules in my letter to you was because of the specific argument that Mr. Shepherd and others made that the rules of natural justice somehow mandate or require pre-discovery of an expert opinion.  That's, in essence, what they said in their letters.  And my response to that is, no, they do not.  And as an example to explain why they do not, I cited these Rules of Civil Procedure which expressly prohibit the pre-discovery of an expert prior to trial.

The party's arguments in those letters, if they were taken seriously, would amount to an assertion that the Rules of Civil Procedure are somehow in violation of the express rules of natural justice, and I don't think that makes sense.

I concede my friend's point that this is a different process before this OEB Panel and that we are not governed by the rules of procedure that he did place in front of you.  Rather, we are governed by the OEB Rules of Process and Procedure.  And the only rule that I could find that relates to this matter in dispute is Rule 14.01 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, which provides the requirement of this Board as it relates to disclosure.  In it, it states that:
"A party who intends to rely on or refer to any document that has not already been filed in a proceeding shall file and serve that document 24 hours before using it in the proceeding."

Mr. Tsimberg's opinion evidence was filed a full two weeks before the hearing.  The intent was to ensure that all of the parties knew exactly what the nature of that opinion evidence is and they know the analytic basis upon which it rests, being Mr. Tsimberg's experience and expertise as well as the detailed asset condition assessment, which has been attached in the evidence since Day 1.

In addition, each of the parties will have a full and opportunity to conduct discovery of Mr. Tsimberg during the oral hearing.  That's why the applicant is bringing Mr. Tsimberg onto the panel, primarily to allow for cross-examination and further discovery into the nature of his expert opinion.

Finally, and just to close this off, it is my understanding -- and people can correct me if I am wrong -- that none of the parties have advised us of their intent to present an opposing expert report.  Consequently, in my submissions, there's no need to invoke what are colloquially known as the hot tub provisions of rule 13(a) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure.

I'm going to conclude by speaking to the nature of Mr. Tsimberg's opinion evidence.  I'm an electrical engineer by training, but I am not an expert in asset management, and I expect few of us in this room can actually make that claim credibly.  Mr. Tsimberg is an expert in asset management, and he is being put forth as a resource that we can all draw upon to assist in better understanding the issues in this application.  While he has been retained by Thunder Bay Hydro, he has been engaged specifically to act as an independent expert on this matter.  What it means is that Mr. Tsimberg is not just a resource that can be used by the applicant, but is also a resource that can be drawn by the OEB Panel and by the parties in this proceeding.  Anyone can ask him questions to help clarify and better understand the issues in this matter, and I'm hopeful that that would be an objective of everyone in this room.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  The Panel has just a few questions, and then our plan is to break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  Will I have a right to reply?

MS. DUFF:  Actually, who was the mover in this case?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was asked to give the first submissions in this case.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry, I apologize, Mr. Shepherd, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We would have no objection.

MR. GARNER:  And if I may, we do have an opinion as to this also.

MS. LEA:  I think, Madam Chair, we let everybody say everything that they want to say and with certain limits, you know, if people are repeating themselves, because I think you -- you know, I think it's best to get everything out.

MS. DUFF:  I will reserve my questions for last.  Please, Mr. Shepherd or Mr. Garner, whichever you choose.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I have five things in reply.  First, I do note that Mr. Vellone, again, says he filed this on April 6th when he filed it, actually, on April 7th.  That's simply a slip of the tongue, presumably.

SEC is not arguing that this evidence should be excluded.  We agree that evidence of this sort is useful, that the Board benefits from experts coming to the Board and giving information on asset management.  We may have some questions about Mr. Tsimberg's qualifications for particular aspects of what he is doing, as soon as we know what he has actually done.  But our argument is that this should be done right.  It's not that it shouldn't be done.  It should be done right.  The evidence should be properly filed.  We should have -- the Board and everybody else should have a full view of what Mr. Tsimberg is going to say in advance of a hearing, and then, only after that, should we have a hearing.  So that's my second comment.

My third comment is my friend says what more report could he provide.  He said his opinions and the ACA is on the record.  Well his opinion is not on the ACA.  If you read his opinion, his opinion is on the DSP, for which he had no involvement.  His opinion on the DSP is a connection between the DSP and the ACA, and we don't know how he did that.  We know nothing about how he says the DSP flows from the ACA; nothing at all.  We have a list of points in his original letter, which look like they are basically taken from chapter 5.  And we have nothing else.

We have no analysis of what research he did, why this particular category is good and this particular category could be better, or anything like that.  We know nothing about what he did at all.

So his opinion, which is about the DSP, has to -- we have to hear something.  His report is not the ACA, which he didn't write, either.  His report is about the DSP.  We need to hear in writing what he has to say about the DSP.  
Then my fourth comment is, my friend argues about the rules of natural justice.  I am sure you don't want to hear too much about this, but I guess I will point out that the civil procedure rules are a completely different system.  They protect natural justice a certain way.

The Board protects natural justice a different way; that was our whole point.  It is still a requirement to protect natural justice; the Board does it having early filing and full discovery.

And then finally my friend says, well, you will get your discovery in the oral hearing.  Well discovery and oral hearings are different things.  The whole point of discovery is to ensure that everything's on the table before the oral hearing; that's why it's called discovery.  
Those are our submissions.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The fortunate thing about going after is what much of what has been said, we agree with.  And we certainly agree with Mr. Shepherd. 
The one thing that we might add with his submission that he doesn't object to the exclusion of evidence if it were filed, we may not be in the same boat as him, because I don't know what evidence they are talking about.

This opinion is simply a one-line statement.  I don't see any evidence.  I can't tell you if we would object to the evidence, because I haven't seen anything.  And without seeing it, I can't possibly make any rendering on what he is about to say.

To reiterate Mr. Shepherd's point, the ACA is in the evidence.  We have read it; it's written by someone else, and as far as we understand it's really made up of two components.  It's a methodical application of data, and as far as we can see we are not even sure that Mr. Tsimberg is the expert with relation to that report.  But if that's all we are talking about, we could probably then have that discussion.

But as Mr. Shepherd says, that is not what is purported in this letter.  I object to it being called evidence.  It's not evidence; it's one line that says, well, you know, the DSP and the ACA, that is what I have been asked to look at.  I haven't seen anything like this throughout this proceeding which was filed back in September.

As you know, in our letter to the Board, we were questioning the motivation of the applicant.  And, you know, so finally we hear from Mr. Vellone.  Well, you know, it turns out Mr. Shepherd wrote a letter saying we should have a hearing in Thunder Bay, so we decided we'd file this.

Well, what's that about?  That's a strategy to deal with issues that are being brought by opposing parties; and we think an unfair strategy.  It's unfair to us, and I would ask the Board to consider, if VECC came to you 14 days before the hearing with an expert opinion and asked to put a person up to testify, without anything other than 192 words, of which five of those paragraphs tell us about what Mr. Tsimberg does or looked at and about three lines telling us that he has an opinion, how would we be treated?  
I don't think we -- I often ask myself I am not sure we would be here today even talking about it.

I think that's part of our objection to Ms. Lea's suggestion, which we appreciate and understand.  The Board want to get on with this proceeding; we understand that.  But it doesn't seem to us fair.

And so, for instance, Mr. Shepherd has indicated that he may have difficulty proceeding in the absence of understanding what is going next.  Well we had the same difficulty with the capital program, because depending on whether this person is testifying to some relationship between the DSP and their report, that changes the whole look of what we want to do in this case.

So, you know, we object to this on -- there is no evidence.  We object to it because of, as Mr. Vellone has said, it is a violation of the Board's processes, and it shouldn't be here.


And we object because we are not even certain what's being testified to.  And Ms. Lea is suggesting, well, we all listen to it now and then we decide.  Now that we hear what the testimony is, we will come up with our cross‑examination.


Well, that's very difficult.  It puts us in a very unequal position.


So thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are our submissions.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Grice.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  I would just like to add that AMPCO agrees with SEC that the expert evidence should not be excluded in this proceeding. But I would just like to let you know what we are struggling with.

Thunder Bay Hydro filed an ACA as part of the evidence, and that included an evaluation of the asset condition that AMPCO's understanding is Thunder Bay Hydro used to facilitate the development of its distribution system plan.  And then the distribution system plan refers to how the ACA informed the development of its plan.

Well, what's missing is the expert witness' opinion on how the ACA connects to the DSP.


And what we are struggling with, the letter that was filed on March 24, is that there seems to be quite a leap between the ACA and the asset condition assessment and how it was used in the DSP, and then the opinion that's been provided relating to the chapter 5 guidelines on how the DSP is reasonable.

And I just want to note one other thing.  As part of the asset condition assessment, it states in the summary that:

"The action plan presented in this study is based solely onset condition and that there are numerous other considerations that may influence Thunder Bay Hydro's distribution system plan."

And so it's the connection between Thunder Bay Hydro's role in developing the DSP and now this expert witness making the connection between the ACA and the DSP that we are struggling with, in the way that the evidence has been provided, and we agree that we think a more thorough and wholesome report, and more fulsome report, on how that opinion was derived would be helpful in this proceeding.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  In the spirit of we can all speak, is there anybody else that has any comments?  Because the Board has a few questions.


Mr. Vellone, is there a 500-page document sitting on a shelf somewhere that contains the instructions and the opinions of Mr. Tsimberg, or is oral testimony the only avenue which you are proposing?  Is there a document that you could file, it's ready and waiting?

MR. VELLONE:  The documents that we could file are already on the record in this proceeding.  And I can have Mr. Tsimberg confirm this as well, if you'd like, but I am not aware of any other document that could be prepared -- produced.

MS. DUFF:  And, again, my original comments or questions regarding the scope of this intended oral testimony, based on the comments that we have heard today, there is some question regarding his expert even regarding the ACA document.


So I -- perhaps, Ms. Lea, there are a number of issues regarding the extent, the process, and then even the level of his expertise as it relates to the ACA.  The ACA, as Ms. Grice points out, then transcends into the DSP.

At this juncture, given Mr. Vellone has said the extent to which they want to provide oral testimony, when would be an appropriate time to hear the submissions on the extent of that?  Is the Board now deciding between the process that should take place first, and then hear submissions regarding the level of expert testimony?

Is that -- I just want to make sure that I am clear on what the Board should be deciding, and in which order.

MS. LEA:  I think, Madam Chair, you have a number of objections before you, as I understand it.  And, please, my friends jump in if I am not putting this correctly.

And let me back up a bit.  My original suggestion that I made earlier -- and I have heard submissions on it and I recognize those submissions -- my original suggestion was since we are all here, Mr. Tsimberg is here, and given that the letter of March 24th states in the future tense that his expert evidence "will be based on," "My testimony will describe," I had presumed, perhaps incorrectly, that Mr. Vellone would be calling some evidence-in-chief from Mr. Tsimberg.  But seeing my friend now and understanding, perhaps, his submissions better, it may be that Mr. Tsimberg's role is not to provide an expert opinion orally whenever we start the hearing, but to sit on the panel and assist with the answers to cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  Is that true, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  These absolutely true.  Anything in-chief should be what's in the letter, nothing in addition.  We are not adding.

MS. DUFF:  That's helpful.  Thank you for that clarification.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So my original --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  Can I follow up on that, if you don't mind?

MS. LEA:  Please, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is my friend proposing that he is an expert witness or a factual witness?  Because he can sit on the panel and help the witnesses if he is a factual witness, except that he doesn't work for Thunder Bay Hydro.  So, I mean, I suppose he could be a factual witness on what's in the ACA.

MS. LEA:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then he couldn't give opinion on the DSP.

MR. VELLONE:  So we are asking him to be qualified as expert in this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, then, that's different.  That's not -- then he has to provide a proper report.

MS. DUFF:  The Board appreciates the difference.

MS. LEA:  So my original suggestion was based somewhat on a mistaken premise, so I think you have several objections before you.

First of all, as I understand Mr. Garner's submission, he objects to the evidence being called at all or evidence being filed, at least at this stage, because he doesn't know -- he states he doesn't know what that evidence will be, so he cannot, at this point, agree to having it called; am I correct?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  So you have an objection to hearing any evidence at all.

And then Mr. Shepherd and Ms. Grice appear to agree that expert evidence would be useful in this case, and they have no objection to having it, but because no report has been filed, they do not believe that natural justice has been served, because they are not prepared to cross-examine the panel, including an expert, without a report.  And, further, as I understand the submissions, Mr. Shepherd, at least, is not ready today to undertake the examination of Mr. Tsimberg's qualifications even because, as I understand it, he has not had sufficient information or time to prepare that, but maybe I'm misunderstanding Mr. Shepherd.

MS. DUFF:  Could you respond to that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Yes, Madam Chair. I --

MS. DUFF:  Procedural Order 3 said we were looking at the qualifications, but that was also based on the information that was available when we issued Procedural Order No. 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do not have a full CV.  I went to the Internet and found all sorts of publications that are not on the CV, so clearly I don't have a full CV, and so I'm not in a position to ask questions.

My questions would not be -- on voir dire would not be about challenging whether Mr. Tsimberg is an expert in asset management.  Clearly, he is.  We all know that.  Everybody in the room knows that.

The question is:  What is the nature of his expertise?  That's valuable to the Board to understand exactly what his expertise is because it is not, for example, distribution system planning.  It's something else.  And it's still valuable, but it's different.

And so, in order to do that, I have to understand enough about his CV and enough about what evidence he is proposing to file to be able to connect the two, and I have neither of those.

MS. DUFF:  I have one question just following up for Mr. Shepherd.  Is there anyone in the room that has an objection?  He's talking about the ACA, in particular, and Mr. Tsimberg's involvement in it, regarding him being -- do you have any questions regarding his qualifications as an expert with respect to that report, Mr. Garner?

MR. GARNER:  I'm not sure we have any objection.  I would certainly like to ask him a question or two about his role in that report vis-à-vis the named author in that report so I could better understand what exactly his expertise is in.

MS. DUFF:  Why don't you ask it now?  Would Mr. Tsimberg have to be qualified?

MR. VELLONE:  He should be affirmed just to make sure --

MS. LEA:  I don't know that --

MS. DUFF:  That would be very useful at this stage.

MS. LEA:  Yeah.

MS. DUFF:  No, no.  Okay.  Fair enough.

MS. LEA:  It may be that -- I'm trying to figure out what are the possible orders that you could make here, sorry.

MS. DUFF:  At this juncture, at this juncture, this is a unique situation.  I mean, I have been a member of the Board for four years.  I have never had this situation.  I'm trying to figure out the what and yet, at the same time, qualifying an expert.  It is unprecedented in that regard in terms of knowing procedural steps, so I apologize if, for some reason, I seem to ask questions and rely on legal counsel from Board to assist us.

MR. VELLONE:  May I volunteer something to help?  The question of what is the scope of Mr. Tsimberg's opinion and the questions that I have been asked today all relate directly to his letter, what work he performed, what analysis considered in arriving at that opinion.  That's all things that can be elicited in discovery or during the oral hearing, and then the Board Panel can make a weighted decision based on submissions from all the parties as to what is the proper gambit of what he was asked to look at and consider.  That's a little bit different than an upfront question of whether we qualify him as an expert here today, in my view.  I'm not sure if others agree.

MS. DUFF:  So I propose that the Panel will break for a short period of time.  I think we need to discuss what we have heard this morning in order to advise parties, I mean, on, first, ordering the number of questions, and if there's anything that we can decide today or provide any guidance with respect to procedural steps, we will try to do that before an afternoon break.

So we will recess.  We will confer with Ms. Lea regarding the timing, because I understand -- I appreciate there's another proceeding going on in the other Board's hearing room, and people's time is valuable, so we will try to provide some direction within half an hour.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 10:59 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:48 a.m.
DECISION:


MS. DUFF:  I apologize for my inaccuracy of estimating.  It was a bit optimistic.  Thank you.

The Board has deliberated regarding the partial settlement proposal, as well as the issues raised in the SEC letter.

The Board does not accept the partial settlement proposal as filed.  The document is insufficient in justifying the need to create an exception to OEB policy.  OEB policy is implicit in the cost allocation model and the rate design, and all Ontario regulated distributors are required to follow it.

Consistent with that, Thunder Bay filed its application in consistency with that cost allocation in creating the large use of class.

However, the OEB heard new information this morning that would be sufficient to justify an exception to policy.  It appears to the Board that this new information that we heard today was simply omitted from the document in the justifications considered by the parties at the time.

The OEB invites the parties to consider revising the document accordingly in order to include the information which we heard today.

Mr. Vellone, perhaps you could confer with the parties regarding this request to see if that's acceptable, and report back to the Board.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly, Madam chair.  Is there specific information that would be helpful to include?

MS. DUFF:  There were issues regarding the individual customer class, the individual customer in question, their usage over time, the volatility in their usage over time, the concepts of rate making and homogeneity of customers within a group, the economic circumstances, the other considerations that could be taken into consideration when deciding rates.

There is the representation in the room regarding Schools and their consideration of whether that would be acceptable.  I don't think we had any information regarding representation of that class in the discussions that took place with the parties in the room.

If you need anything more than, that but I think those would be persuasive to the Board.

What we are talking about is an exception to policy.  The Board doesn't take that lightly, so the settlement proposal must stand on its own.  And I think it was persuasive, the information we heard today.

So you can just review the transcript, and more is better in this circumstance.

MR. VELLONE:  That's helpful.  Thank you Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  The Board has also considered the issues raised in SEC's letter.

The Board is concerned regarding the quality of the record before the OEB and with procedural fairness. Today the Board is willing to hear Mr. Tsimberg as a fact-based witness as it relates to the asset condition assessment his company, Kinectrics, filed.  The Board finds it expedient to keep this process moving and to utilize the fact that Thunder Bay's witnesses have patiently been waiting throughout this process in order to proceed with the hearing, and that OEB would find that useful regarding his testimony as a fact-based witness.

The OEB will also allow the opportunity for Thunder Bay Hydro to call him as an expert witness, but only on the prerequisite that a written report is provided. There needs to be sufficient time for that written report to be reviewed, not only on behalf of the intervenors and the parties, but the Panel itself.

This is an option that Thunder Bay may choose to follow, and in doing so the Board would like to provide some direction.  Ms. Lea, did you pass out section -- we made some copies -- actually, I did it myself -- on the Board's rules of practice and procedure, section 13A.  I just want to review that to make sure it's clear regarding our understanding and what -- any evidence that would be filed, what it should contain.

So it's on page 11.  I am going to go through sections (a) to (f) of 13A.

Subsection (a), the expert's name, business name and address and general area of expertise. Looking at the May 24th letter, the Board considers this to be complete.

Part (b), the expert's qualifications, including the expert's relevant educational professional experience.  The Board has what's in front of us today, but there is always the opportunity to file more information.  Again, it is dependent on what you plan to call him as an expert as. 
Regarding section (c), the instructions provided to the expert.  As the Board sees it now, that instruction was provided in paragraphs 2 and 3 of the letter of March 24:
"I was instructed to provide expert testimony at the OEB hearing particularly as it relates to the reasonableness of the capital investment levels requested under the system renewal category based on the findings of the Kinectrics 216 ACA study."

And I believe in number -- subsection 2 there are more instructions:
"I was hired by Thunder Bay to provide evidence in relation to Thunder Bay's 2017 rate application to the OEB."

And those are the two sentences that we see in terms of the instructions.  If there is anything more that is missing from that, you would have to let us know.

In subsection (d):
"The specific information upon which the expert's evidence is based."

The information that you would be filing should contain this his opinions, what he looked at, and how he reached those opinions.

Subsection (e):
 "In the case that evidence is provided in response to another expert's evidence --"


That is not relevant.

"And an acknowledgement letter of the expert's duty to perform in form A."

Now, he has signed something, but perhaps it would be advisable to revise it, given the additional information that you would be filing.

It is the Board's expectation that, once we have that written information, we would then consider his expertise in order to qualify him.

The Board would provide also subsequent procedural steps, once we know what the evidence is, regarding the discovery process and following an oral hearing.  We don't know what those are right now.

In addition to that, the Board has one suggestion.  Given all that we have heard today, and as we review the instructions provided by Thunder Bay Hydro in paragraphs 2 and 3, the Board would like Thunder Bay to perhaps consider this.

The Board notes that the distribution system plan is nothing that the Board does not approve by this panel.  It is a filing requirement that informs the Board as it sets its rates for 2017 and over the whole IRM period.  It's a construct from the renewed regulatory framework, but we don't approve it per se.  What the Board does approve and review are the capital expenditures, and in particular those in 2017.  And those are relevant for us setting rates in this application which you've asked us to approve.

The OEB notes that the forecast capital expenditures from 2017 to 2021 are in Exhibit 2, and they are on pages I think it's 35 to about 47.  And those numbers, those forecasts by the four investment categories, system access, system renewal, general plant, those are the same numbers and figures and dollar figures that are in the DSP.  It is those numbers that the Board will consider and need to incorporate into the revenue requirement that will then derive rates.

And the text written on those pages is consistent with the DSP, albeit much condensed, and it refers to how the ACA informed the decision-making process for Thunder Bay.

Just a consideration; the DSP itself is 487 pages with 11 appendices, versus the 12 pages.  So if there's some way that you could consider limiting the scope of his review, that may be -- I'm not --it's your case.  It's just a consideration.

Are there any questions regarding what the Board has said today?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I do have one question.  You commented on 13A03(c), the instructions.  It would be normal practice for us to be able to see the agreement and any written instructions given to the experts at the same time as they filed their report.  Is that what was intended by the Board?

MS. DUFF:  Is the concern that this is just Mr. Tsimberg's interpretation of what he was asked to do, and by seeing the original document, then you will be able to understand the scope of the work --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Normally, the agreement and the written instructions are filed with an expert report.

MR. VELLONE:  We would not object to that.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Any other questions?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, then I had one second question.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it the Board's intention to hear Mr. Tsimberg as a factual witness today?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, it is.  But in terms of procedural fairness, I was going -- Procedural Order No. 2 said that we would proceed only with cost of capital issues today, for sure, at a minimum.  I was then going to poll the parties in the room to find out if they would be prepared or not to proceed with the issues regarding capital expenditures or OM&A.  I was then going to decide whether we could proceed.  But to answer any potential question you may have, you are under no obligation to proceed today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was more asking -- thank you.  That was the second part of my question.  But the first part of my question is:  I'm assuming that the Board's intent is that, as a factual witness, Mr. Tsimberg could talk about the preparation of the ACA and his involvement in it, but then he would have to stop there because he couldn't provide any opinions or anything on or connected to the DSP.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  However, I -- the Board actually found the comments of Ms. Grice quite useful.  The ACA is a study.  It's a very technical one that talks about units.  It talks about assets.  It talks about categories.  It does not translate into dollars.  It's that translation that actually is unknown right now in terms of Mr. Tsimberg's expertise.

However, between pages 35 and 47 of Exhibit 2, rate base section, there are a list of system renewal projects listed by title of what was planned by the utility in 2017.  To the extent that a project is listed on there, I think Mr. Tsimberg would be able to opine whether that matches the recommendations in the ACA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's why I'm asking the question.  As a factual witness, of course, he can't opine to anything.  He can only say, "This project is in the ACA," nothing more.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  I would agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Are there any questions regarding how we are about to proceed?

MS. LEA:  I just wanted to clarify.  So, Madam Chair, it is Thunder Bay's option now to choose whether to continue to present Mr. Tsimberg as an expert witness, and should they choose to do that, then they need to take the steps that you outline with respect to filing a report?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  So the ball is in Thunder Bay's court at this point?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I only have one clarification question.

MS. DUFF:  Please.

MR. VELLONE:  Should we set a procedural time frame around when we need to notify you as to whether or not we will proceed with Mr. Tsimberg's expert report?  A week?  Two weeks?  Let's put some certainty to it.

MS. DUFF:  No.  I don't think that's a constraint that we need to add.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  I mean, At the same time, you have asked for rates to be effective May 1st.  It is April 20th, and, you know, we have a saying here at the OEB:  Applicant; own your application; Board, own your process.


On that note, good morning, panel.  You have patiently been waiting.  I appreciate that.

Ms. Lea, the Procedural Order No. 3 said that the Board would proceed with cost of capital cross-examination.  Has Board Staff polled the parties?  I know we have some indication from Mr. Shepherd regarding his intent to cross-examine.  Do we have a sense of that today?

MS. LEA:  I have not polled the parties today because I wasn't sure what the ruling would be.  I gather that what your intention is now is to swear these witnesses, and I can tell you that Board Staff has no questions on the cost of capital.  We do have questions on the DSP and capital spending and also on OM&A that we can proceed with today with the caveat that, if an expert report is filed and is chosen to be filed, then we may have a few additional questions.  So we could proceed with those questions, and then the parties will have that transcript for when cross-examination for the others comes up, presuming that they are not ready to go today on the basis of Mr. Tsimberg as a fact-based witness only.  But I had not clarified that last part with the parties.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  No.  Just on the cost of capital alone.

MS. LEA:  Oh, just on the cost of capital; I see.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have any questions on cost capital.  I would make one comment, however, and that is there is a technical issue here that perhaps needs to be raised.  If these witnesses are sworn, then, from the time they are sworn until the time we come back in a month, Mr. Vellone can't talk to them, and that may be a difficulty that we would want to address, and you can just give an exemption; but, then, that sort of, you know, gives up the protection.  And I wonder if there's enough to do today to make it worthwhile to proceed with anything at all, given that problem.


I would invite Mr. Vellone to comment on that, but I just -- I don't want him to be stuck in a situation where he can't talk to the CEO of the company for a month.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Garner, Ms. Grice, do you have any questions regarding the cost of capital?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  In anticipation of your order, I did do the minimum I needed to do, and I do have a few questions.  They would be relatively short.  However, having said that, I feel at a bit at a disadvantage.  I haven't had the chance to talk with Mr. Shepherd offline, and Ms. Grice.  As you know, we do coordinate issues.  The Board asked us to do that in the efficiency.  And I am a little wondering about Mr. Shepherd's way of proceeding on an issue I thought he had some interest in, and I think we may -- I just need some time to have that discussion with him.  But if necessary --

MS. DUFF:  Regarding cost of capital?

MR. GARNER:  Regarding cost of capital.  But, if necessary, I think I could proceed if the Board were to be inclined to do that, on that issue alone.  On the other issues, I have to say, on OM&A, possibly.  I'm certainly not prepared on the capital program because of the nature of that issue.

MS. DUFF:  Fair enough.  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  I do not have any questions om cost of capital.

MS. DUFF:  Did I not hear you correctly, Mr. Shepherd?  I thought you had no questions on cost of capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no questions directly related to cost of capital.  I am concerned that the cost of capital is not settled, but only because I have context questions.  When we talk about the capital plan, cost of capital because a relevant issue.  They are all collateral.  They are not directly on cost of capital.

MS. DUFF:  I appreciate that.  I'm also appreciative of the time, we can accomplish today.

Mr. Vellone, do you have any comments?  And could you please address the concerns of Mr. Shepherd regarding the communication with your witnesses if they were to be sworn today?


MR. VELLONE:  So that would certainly be a concern of mine, if my witnesses -- my witness panel could not be discharged by the end of this two-day process.  They came  -- the applicant is prepared to speak to all the matters at issue in this application.  They can respond to any of the questions.  I am not sure cost of capital, on its own, is going to merit a full day of hearing, from what I hear from my friends.  So it might be better to bundle that in with all of the other issues.  We are prepared to speak to them, but I'm not sure it's going to make sense to allow some parties to go and other parties not, because then I'm stuck in that limbo situation.

MS. DUFF:  Did you have direct examination regarding cost of capital, and how long?

MR. VELLONE:  I have a direct examination that's only on capital and OM&A.

MS. DUFF:  And how long was that?

MR. VELLONE:  It's about 30 minutes total.


Madam Chair, I am just going to make a simple point, which is that I have not had the opportunity to confer with my client about any of these developments yet.


MS. DUFF:  Fair enough.


MR. VELLONE:  My views are my own.  I haven't had a chance to speak with them yet.

MS. DUFF:  I appreciate that.  Ms. Lea, were you preparing something?  Did you have any comments to add?

MS. LEA:  I am sorry; perhaps I was muttering audibly. I was just looking at housekeeping issues, which I can address once you have made your determination with respect to these things. I think that we do need to set some dates for some things.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  And I can speak to that now, if you chose. 
The Board has asked that the parties expand the settlement agreement and refile it.  I think we need to set a date for that, and I am happy to, you know -- we should hear from parties as to how soon that can be done.  Is a week sufficient?

MS. DUFF:  That is exactly what the Board was, thinking, so you'd be quite right on it.

MS. LEA:  Okay so a week today is April 27.  Can I suggest also that, although Thunder Bay can take its time with respect to filing its statement of intention regarding whether it wishes to put Mr. Tsimberg forward as an expert, I am sure it won't take much time because Thunder Bay definitely wants to proceed. In that statement or letter, could you please indicate the date that you would be filing any report, when you have decided to file a report?

So in other words, when you file your letter saying, yes, we are going to go ahead with Mr. Tsimberg as an expert, please give us the date that his report would be filed.

MS. DUFF:  Actually, the panel was conferring and thinking that we needed some indication whether there, A, would be a report or not, and then the estimated time that Thunder Bay thought that they would need.

MR. VELLONE:  That's all reasonable; yes, we wouldn't object to that.

MS. DUFF:  Great.  So on the 27th of April we will have perhaps an indication on whether there is an augmented partial settlement proposal, whether there is some pending evidence to be filed, and the date that that evidence would be filed.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Based on what's happened today and also regarding the concern regarding communication, Mr. Vellone, with your witnesses, I feel there is little to be gained by swearing the witnesses today -- the panel feels that way --and thereby somehow constraining your ability to communicate on some very sensitive issues regarding your application.

Given the limited amount of cost of capital questioning and direct, I -- for the half hour that perhaps could be afforded today I think that those benefits are outweighed by the disadvantages of not being able to talk to them in the intervening period.

Is that acceptable?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  It has to be.

MS. DUFF:  All right.

MR. VELLONE:  Madam Chair, we do have tomorrow scheduled in this hearing room.  One thing we haven't canvassed the parties about is whether or not they might be prepared to proceed on the basis you have set out for cross-examination on all of the issues tomorrow, try to use the time we have.

MS. DUFF:  I don't think it would be of assistance to the panel until we have the additional information, just due to the integrated nature of capital expenditures rate base, OM&A trade-offs capital, you know, the determination of the revenue requirement therefore how much, you know, equity debt do you need and what that amount is.  They are all intertwined.  I don't think the panel would be prepared even to consider those issues in isolation without knowing whether additional information would be filed by the applicant.

With that said, I am very appreciative of Thunder Bay's witnesses for travelling this distance.  And the events today were a little unforeseen, but I do feel that we were able to achieve some understanding and mutual understanding, and I think the Board has been able to provide some direction.  And you can consider next steps accordingly.

With the Board's thanks, this hearing is adjourned.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:13 p.m.
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